
Page 1 of 1 

 

  

  

 

 

Date/Time:   Wednesday, September 20, 2023, at 1:00 p.m. 

Place:      Nashville International Airport – Tennessee Board Room  

Board Members:  Jimmy Granbery, Chair 
    Bobby Joslin, Vice Chair 
    Masami Tyson, Secretary 
    Tony Giarratana 
    Jack Johnson 
    Stuart McWhorter 
    Mayor’s Appointment – 1 (vacant) 
    Mayor’s Appointment – 2 (vacant) 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

No requests for public comments received to date.   Deadline is September 19, 2023 at 1:00 a.m.    

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

1. August 16, 2023 Minutes of the Joint Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners & MPC Board 

of Directors 

IV. CHAIR’S REPORT 

V. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

VI. ITEMS FOR APPROVAL 

1. Design, Build, Operate & Maintain Remote Virtual Control System (Operations) 

2. BNA West Development LOI/Lease Terms – Future SPE for Scott Sohr (Finance) 

3. CEO Employment Agreement (Management) 

4. CEO FY24 Performance Evaluation Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Management) 

VII. INFORMATION ITEMS 

1. BNA Development Update (Operations) 

2. JWN Development Update (Operations) 

3. BNA Concessions Program Update (including BNA Passport Program) (Finance) 

VIII. ADJOURN 

Agenda of the Joint Meeting of the  
MNAA Board of Commissioners 
and MPC Board of Directors 



Page 1 of 12  

 

 

 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:  August 16, 2023     Location:  Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority 

Tennessee Boardroom  
Time: 1:00 p.m.  
 
Board Members Present: Jimmy Granbery, Chair; Bobby Joslin, Vice Chair; Masami Tyson, 

Secretary; Tony Giarratana; and Jack Johnson 
  
Board Members Absent: Stuart McWhorter 
 
MNAA Staff Present: Doug Kreulen, Neale Bedrock, Lisa Lankford, Trish Saxman 
 Marge Basrai, Kristy Bork, Chris Davidson, David Griswold, Traci 

Holton, Daniel B. Brown, Ijeoma Ike, Carrie Logan, Rachel Moore, 
Ted Morrissey, Stacey Nickens, Robert Ramsey, Davita Taylor and 
Colleen Von Hoene 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER  

In accordance with the 3rd Amended and Restated Bylaws of the MNAA Board of Commissioners, 

Section 2.3, Chair Granbery called the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 

Meeting to order at 1:00 p.m., pursuant to Public Notice posted to the MNAA website August 11, 2023. 

 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Chair Granbery stated there were no public comment requests received. 

 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Chair Granbery called for a motion to approve the July 19, 2023 Minutes of the Joint Meeting of 

the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors.  A motion to approve was made 

by Vice Chair Joslin and seconded by Commissioner Giarratana.  Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman 

for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery  - Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson - Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana - Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0.  

Minutes of the Joint Meeting of the MNAA 
Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 2 of 12  

 

IV. CHAIR’S REPORT 

Chair Granbery stated he would like to congratulate BNA and Nashville Tennessee for the recent 

announcement from Southwest selecting Nashville (BNA) as the airline’s newest crew base.   He 

stated that MNAA is excited for this big win and are proud to be a part of it.  Chair Granbery 

informed  the Board that an audit letter from Plante Moran was on the table.  He had a preliminary 

call with Plante Moran, and all went well, and we are looking forward to the audit being 

completed in mid-November. 

 

Chair Granbery stated it is his honor to announce that Vice Chair Bobby Joslin will be nominated 

into the Tennessee Aviation Hall of Fame on November 4, 2023 and asked the Board members to  

please mark their calendars.  Vice Chair Joslin thanked him. 

 

V. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

President Kreulen reported that the auditors will arrive next week, and we will have the audit 

finalized in late September, early October. Ms. Marge Basrai, EVP CFO, confirmed financial 

statements will be done by the end of October.  President Kreulen stated the 2024 Committee & 

Board Schedule calendar invitations will be sent out in September.  There are several conferences 

in 2024 and we are hosting two big ones: the American Association of Airport Executives (“AAAE”) 

on April 28th through May 1st; and the Airport Minority Advisory Conference (“AMAC”), which will 

be in either June or July of 2024. The BNA Vision project will be completed and the attendees of 

both conferences will see what we have built over the past six years.  The Airport Council 

International North America (“ACI-NA”) will be held in Grand Rapids, Michigan on September 7th 

through 10th and the Southeast Chapter of AAAE (“SEC AAAE”) will be in Birmingham, Alabama on 

March 16th – 19th.  Any time any of the Board members would like to travel to a conference, MNAA 

will make the arrangements. 

 

President Kreulen stated Silver Airways launched their air service to Piedmont Triad International 

Airport in Greensboro, North Carolina, with one flight a day beginning on July 25, 2023.  Spirit 

Airlines announced new air service to Boston and Miami beginning September 7, 2023.   It is good 

for BNA because it brings competition.  BNA already has three airlines that go to Boston - Delta, 

JetBlue and Southwest. BNA has  two airlines that go to Miami - American and Southwest.  Spirit 

is a good addition for BNA and will move into the Satellite Concourse when it opens. 

 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 3 of 12  

President Kreulen introduced Mr. Steve Wood, the Transportation Security Administration’s 

(“TSA”) Federal Security Director (“FSD”) for the State of Tennessee.  President Kreulen stated 

BNA successfully passed the month-long TSA Annual Inspection and noted the importance of 

maintaining compliance with TSA. TSA conducted 62 tests, with 4 findings, and staff will work with 

TSA to resolve those.  One of the findings was on the Sharps log, where tenants have to account 

for all sharp knives and forks in their restaurants.  One of our tenants, Pharmacy Burger, was 

missing dates on the Sharps log.  There were two findings for failure to challenge and one finding 

for improper ID display.  BNA will continue to work with tenants to wear their badge correctly and 

challenge employees who are not wearing their badge correctly. He noted there are over 10,000 

badge holders. 

 

President Kreulen reported on August 2, 2023 the Tennessee Department of Transportation’s 

(“TDOT") Annual Inspection was completed at JWN.  They found no discrepancies in Section 1, 

which findings require immediate correction.  In Section 2 they identified some things that they 

want us to monitor -  obstructions on Runway ends 02 and 20 are trees that will have to be 

trimmed back; and pavement oxidation on runways which staff will work with TDOT for a solution.  

JWN received a Tennessee Airport License, valid through December 31, 2024.  TDOT Aeronautics 

competes our general aviation inspection, our FAA completes the commercial airport inspection, 

which happened earlier this year at BNA. 

 

President Kreulen stated the Westside Charter had some renovations and improvements made.  

This is where we have most of our cargo and maintenance repair overhaul operations and is also 

utilized by commercial carriers servicing the Titans, visiting NFL teams, the Nashville Soccer Club 

and other sports teams. 

 

President Kreulen stated Congressman Green was scheduled to tour BNA today, but that will be 

rescheduled.  Aviation Worker Screening was on the agenda to discuss with. Beginning September 

25, 2023, BNA has a requirement to begin employee screening as they go  from the non-secured 

to the secured sterile area of the airport.   MNAA has been working with TSA and are close to 

having a plan that will be approved.  This will reduce the number of access points from 7 to 2, and 

all MNAA employees will have to go through normal screening to get from one side to the sterile 

side during the hours that TSA is open.  When TSA is closed, employees will have to go through 

those remaining 2 doors and MNAA will have to perform random inspections.  There is a lot of 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 4 of 12  

work on this, both for TSA and MNAA, to make sure there is no insider threat.  The challenges are 

how to accomplish this, how to pay for it, and how  to prevent operational disruptions. 

 

President Kreulen reported that BNA is continuing to grow.  Staff elected to go with a 3-scenario 

enplanement forecast of 7%, 11% and 15% for FY24,  and we have been at 13% - 14%.  July was 

at 13% growth, and we are right at 7% growth for August. Staff will continue to watch the trend 

and should see the normal rise coming up at fall break, dropping off in the winter, and coming 

back up spring and summer.  

 

President Kreulen announced Committee and Board schedules look great and reminded the Board 

that the IAF Reception and Marketplace will be held on September 25, 2023.  October Committee 

will be busy with several approval items and the Board Retreat will be held on October 18, 2023 

with the Board meeting in the morning and the Retreat in the afternoon.  The Retreat is where 

the stage is set to develop a budget for next year.  

 

VI. ITEMS FOR APRPOVAL 

1. Professional Services Contract for Terminal 2 Siting Study (Operations) 

President Kreulen introduced Traci Holton, VP, Chief Engineer, who briefed the Board on the 

Professional Services Contract for Terminal 2 Siting Study. This scope will provide a 

comprehensive analysis to determine location for second terminal and a future CONRAC 

location.  The Request for Qualification (“RFQ”) was published May 1, 2023 and MNAA 

received 3 Statements of Qualification (“SOQ”) from SPS, HOK and Jacobsen Daniels.  Strategic 

Planning Services Inc. (SPS) headquartered in Cincinnati was the highest rated firm. The 

SMWBE goal was 6.51% MBE and/or WBE; and SPS committed to 7% WBE. The total contract 

cost is $3.5M NTE and staff is still negotiating the scope and fee.   

 

Ms. Holton recommended the Board of Commissioners authorize the Chair and President and 

CEO to execute the Professional Services Contract with SPS for a not-to-exceed contract value 

of $3,500,000.  This was presented to the Operations Committee on August 9, 2023. 

 

Vice Chair Joslin made a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Commissioner 

Giarratana. Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 5 of 12  

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 

 

President Kreulen thanked the Board for approving and stated MNAA has been working for 

years to carry out the vision of the Board. The BNA Vision project is finishing up and the New 

Horizon 2022-2028 project is already moving forward.  This study is scoping the airport out to 

the 2035 time period, when BNA gets to 35M passengers.  This siting study will let MNAA 

know where the best place is to start thinking about locating the next terminal.   This is huge 

for the City of Nashville and the State of Tennessee. 

 

2. Professional Services Contract for On Call Engineering Services (Operations) 

Ms. Holton reported that the Professional Services Contract for on Call Engineering Services 

will provide on call professional engineering design services for all engineering-led, capital 

projects for the next 3 years.  The RFQ was published on May 30, 2023 and MNAA received 

one SOQ from Garver, LLC (“Garver”).   Garver provided a very comprehensive and well 

qualified team with capability to perform engineering tasks.  Garver’s team consists of Atkins, 

Jacobs and Kimley Horn as well as other engineering consultants throughout the city.  The 

term is a 1 year contract with two 1-year renewal options at $5M NTE each year.   

 

Ms. Holton recommended the Board of Commissioners authorize the Chair and President and 

CEO to execute the On Call Engineering Professional Services Contract with Garver for an 

annual not-to-exceed contract value of $5,000,000.  This was presented to the Operations 

Committee on August 9, 2023. 

 

Vice Chair Joslin made a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Commissioner 

Giarratana. Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 6 of 12  

 

3. TARI – Telecommunication Provider License and Access Fees Agreement – Crown Castle 

(Operations) 

Ms. Holton reported that the TARI impacts telecommunications providers and constructed a 

consolidated ductbank to not be impacted by future project construction.  Crown Castle will 

enter into a license agreement for occupancy in the duct bank.  In November 2021, the Board 

authorized MNAA to execute licenses and receive fees with telecommunication service 

providers in the amount of $2.8M for AT&T, Lumen, Comcast and Verizon.  Crown Castle 

previously sublet to AT&T but is now seeing its own conduit which they will pay a license fee 

of $343,639.   

 

Ms. Holton recommended the Board of Commissioners authorize the Chair and President and 

CEO to execute the license and receive $343,639 in fees from Crown Castle. This was 

presented to the Operations Committee on August 9, 2023. 

 

Vice Chair Joslin made a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Commissioner 

Tyson. Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 

 

4. Professional Services Contract for Commercial Trash, Recycled Materials and Electronics 

Disposal (Operations) 

President Kreulen introduced Daniel B. Brown, AVP, Maintenance, Environmental and Safety, 

who briefed the Board on the Professional Services Contract for Commercial Trash, Recycled 

Materials and Electronics Disposal.  This contract is for trash removal services for BNA and 

Outlying Properties.  The contractor will perform and provide all labor, tools, transportation, 

services and equipment necessary and reasonably essential to perform trash removal services 

for 1.7M sq ft.  Mr. Brown stated on June 5, 2023 an RFP was published and MNAA received 

2 proposals, Waste Management, Inc. (“WM”) and J&J Services. The selection committee 

recommended WM based on their quality assurance program, equipment status, and number 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 7 of 12  

of personnel assigned to the airport and pricing.  The contract duration is 3 years plus two 1-

year renewal options and the total cost is $4,049,213.64.  Following up on Chair Giarratana’s 

question regarding where waste is sent posed at the August 9, 2023 Operations Committee 

meeting, Mr. Brown informed the Board that solid waste is offloaded at the Antioch Transfer 

Station; for recycling waste WM owns and operates the regions’ only Material Recovery 

Facility (“MRF”); and for construction materials WM is opening the region’s only construction 

debris automated sorting recycling facility at their Southern Services landfill in Davidson 

County. 

 

Mr. Brown recommended the Board of Commissioners accept the proposal by Waste 

Management, Inc. for Trash Removal Services for BNA and Outlying Properties and authorize 

the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for $4M. This was 

presented to the Operations Committee on August 9, 2023. 

 

Vice Chair Joslin made a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Commissioner 

Tyson. Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 

 

5. Amendment to Professional Services Contract for Custodial Services Satellite Concourse 

(Operations) 

Mr. Brown reported that the Amendment to Professional Services Contract for Custodial 

Services is to perform and provide all labor, tools, transportation, services and equipment 

necessary and reasonably essential to perform custodial services for 90k sq. ft. in the Satellite 

Concourse.  Mr. Brown stated MNAA and Bestway Services Inc. entered into a contract for 

January 24, 2023 through January 24, 2025 and this will amend that contract for 27 months, 

October 21, 2023 through January 24, 2026, remainder of year 1 plus 2 years.   

 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 8 of 12  

Mr. Brown recommended the Board of Commissioners accept the proposal by Bestway 

Services for the Satellite Concourse and authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute 

the proposed contract amendment for $2.6M. This was presented to the Operations 

Committee on August 9, 2023. 

 

Vice Chair Joslin made a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Commissioner 

Giarratana.  Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 

 

6. JWN North Development LOI/Lease Terms – Parcel 1 (Future SPE for Steve Smith) (Finance) 

President Kreulen introduced Carrie R. Logan, VP, Associate General Counsel, who briefed the 

Committee on the JWN North Development LOI/Lease Terms.  Ms. Logan stated that this is a 

lease for Parcel 1 at JWN North Development for a Future Special Purpose Entity (“SPE”) for 

Steve Smith.  This property is one parcel of land for a total of 0.84 acres, approximately 36K 

sf.   The key lease terms  MNAA has been using for Parcels 2-9 will also be used for Parcel 1.  

Rent commences upon execution on or before October 15, 2023. There is an 18-month term 

for construction of the hangar, and a 30-year initial term with one 5-year renewal option, for 

a total potential 36.5 years.  Base Rent is $2.70/sf which is the average of base rent on Parcels 

2-9.  There is a 3% annual escalation with FMRV adjustments in year 10 and 20 of initial term.  

We anticipate a minimum of $2.5M of construction of the hangar and an improvement value 

for a 10K sf hangar.  The impact is the immediate revenue source of $98K to JWN in year one 

and new asset that will vest in 31.5 – 36.5 years. 

 

Ms. Logan recommended the Board of Commissioners approve the terms negotiated 

between MNAA and future Special Purpose Entity for Steve Smith via Letter of Intent and 

authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the lease agreement with future special 

purpose entity for Steve Smith, consistent with these terms. This was presented to the 

Finance Committee on August 9, 2023. 

 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 9 of 12  

Commissioner Johnson made a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Vice Chair 

Joslin. Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 

 

Chair Granbery thanked the staff.  The Board challenged this staff to pull this off in short order 

and it is a wonderful day for JWN to have this done at this number in that amount of time.  

Chair Granbery thanked the staff for all their hard work and stated that he and Vice Chair 

Joslin have requested further development at JWN for years and this is great for JWN and also 

great for Nashville.  

 

7. Amendment to Fraport Sublease with Ferncroft Airport, LLC (Titan’s Sports Bar, The All Day, 

Nashville Mustic City (Finance) 

President Kreulen introduced Colleen Von Hoene, Associate Principal, Paslay Group, to brief 

the Committee on the Amendment to Fraport Subleases with Ferncroft, LLC.  Ms. Von Hoene 

stated MNAA has a Lease and Concession Agreement with Fraport Tennessee, Inc. (“Fraport”) 

to manage and develop a terminal-wide concessions program, including food, beverage, 

services, retail, and vending offerings and that Agreement expires January 31, 2029.  If any 

sublease terms extend beyond that date, MNAA must become a party to the sublease.  

Fraport has two subleases with Ferncroft Airport, LLC  (“Ferncroft”) to which MNAA is a party.  

Ferncroft requested changes to location names, which were formally approved in 

Amendment 8 to the Fraport Agreement.  Nashville Music City will change to The Music City 

Shop, The All Day will change to Kitty Hawk Eat and Drink and Titans Sports Bar will change to 

The Titans Press Box.   The Ferncroft subleases must now be amended to incorporate the 

name changes approved in Amendment 8 to the Agreement.   

 

Ms. Von Hoene recommended the Board of Commissioners accept and authorize the Chair 

and President and CEO to execute the amendment to the subleases between Fraport, 

Ferncroft Airport, LLC and MNAA.  This was presented to the Finance Committee on August 

9, 2023. 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 10 of 12  

  

Chair Granbery thanked the staff again and said that filling these spaces with tenants who are 

local and show Nashville, Tennessee off to our guests who come through BNA, is great. 

 

Commissioner Johnson made  a motion to approve as presented and seconded by Chair 

Granbery. Chair Granbery asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:   

Chair Granbery – Yes 

Vice Chair Joslin - Yes 

Commissioner Tyson -Yes 

Commissioner Giarratana – Yes 

Commissioner Johnson -Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 5 to 0. 

 

VII. INFORMATION ITEMS 

President Kreulen presented several information items for the BNA Development Update.   The 

BNA IAF & Marketplace reception is September 25, 2023 and invitations for the event went out 

the week of August 21, 2023 to approximately 580 recipients.  The project cost is $480,436,375 

of the total $1.5B Vision budget. We have been working on this project over the last 6 years and 

are completing it on time and on budget. 

 

President Kreulen stated Congressman Green was going to come here and tour BNA but was 

called away on business to Washington, D.C.   

 

President Kreulen stated the Satellite Concourse Ribbon cutting date is to be determined.   The 

Board of Commissioners, Governor Bill Lee and State Commissioners will be invited to the ribbon 

cutting.  Flight operations will start on October 21, 2023 and as soon as Paradies completes  

construction of all concessions, we will determine a date for the ribbon cutting. 

 

President Kreulen stated Congressman Mark Green toured JWN on August 15, 2023.  He had a 

chance to meet with Chris Davidson, AVP, JWN Airport Manager, and his team.  President Kreulen 

showed a picture of the  air traffic control tower and pointed out where the  road is going in and 

all the work they are doing on the ramp to connect our two taxiways.  The project is scheduled to 

be completed in  late October 2023. 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 11 of 12  

 

President Kreulen reported that the BNA Concessions Program has 15 locations under 

construction and are on track for the September 25, 2023 opening.  The Paradies Satellite 

Concourse Concessions Program has 7 locations under construction and scheduled to open 

October 2023.Five of the seven locations are on track.  Ms. Von Hoene is working to see if they 

can accelerate their schedule. 

 

President Kreulen stated Ms. Kristy Bork, AVP of Finance, did a great job of going over our 

Retirement and OPEB Plan and Treasury Investments.  We made money this past quarter on all 

three accounts, and we are 99.6% invested and had one of our best quarter returns at $9M. 

 

President Kreulen thanked the Board for reviewing the FY23 Employee Performance Results.  The 

employees did a great job with 89% of objectives completed and making revenue and target 

expenses and are deserving of the bonuses that we plan to pay out in October.  President Kreulen 

stated he owes the Board some homework for any of the excess money and we will discuss in the 

future. 

 

President Kreulen thanked the Management Committee for reviewing the FY23 CEO Performance 

Results and the Board received a copy of the scorecard that was used by the Management 

Committee.   Chair Granbery stated he would like to make a couple of  comments regarding the 

FY23 CEO Performance Results.  Chair Granbery stated President Kreulen was hired on April 1, 

2012 and became CEO in December 2017, and his performance is at 103.75%. Continuing, Chair 

Granbery said that President Kreulen has exceeded his KPI’s on his new employment contract and 

has led the airport  through the $1.5B BNA Vision project. Now he is leading  the airport through 

the $1.5B BNA Horizon project, which will open September 25, 2023, and the siting of Terminal 2.  

BNA is not slowing down, and staff is preparing for the next 20 million passengers. Chair Granbery 

complimented President Kreulen on his leadership.  The Management Committee voted 

unanimously to approve a Cost of Living Adjustment (“COLA”) raise of 5%, and max bonus of 42% 

based on exceeding 103.75% of his matrix in his employment contract.  Chair Granbery asked Ms. 

Saxman for the minutes to reflect President Kreulen’s outstanding performance.   Vice Chair Joslin 

stated he has been through a lot of years with President Kreulen and truly believes MNAA would 

not be where  it is today without his leadership, and he is one of his biggest fans.  Commissioner 

Giarratana stated he is new to the Board, but he is very impressed with what everything he has 

seen, and it is truly breathtaking. He complimented President Kreulen on executing projects on 



August 16, 2023 Minutes of the  Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 12 of 12  

time and on budget and congratulated him on  exceeding all of these outstanding goals and 

expressed his excitement and appreciation.   Commissioner Johnson stated Lieutenant Governor 

asked if he would be willing to serve on the Board and he replied he had one condition: to make 

sure that President Kreulen is going to stick around.  Once that was confirmed, he was happy  to 

serve on the Board.  Commissioner Tyson stated she is proud to serve on the Board with President 

Kreulen as the CEO and excited about next steps. 

 

President Kreulen thanked the Board and the Staff because they are the ones that make all of this 

happen and he expressed that he is really proud of them and appreciates what they do and is 

happy to be part of MNAA.  He stated that is very proud of MNAA and what it is doing for 

Tennessee and the City of Nashville and all of the surrounding counties.  And we are always finding 

ways for improvement.   Chair Granbery thanked the staff as well and stated he is looking forward 

to the future. 

 

VIII. ADJOURN 

There being no further business brought before the Board, Chair Granbery asked for a motion to 

adjourn.  Vice Chair Joslin made the motion to adjourn, and Commissioner Giarratana seconded 

the motion, which carried by a vote of 5 to 0.  Chair Granbery adjourned the meeting at 1:31 p.m.   

 

 

             _______________________________________ 

           Masami I. Tyson , Board Secretary 



 

Page 1 of 3 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 
Date: September 20, 2023 

Facility: Nashville International Airport 

Subject: Design, Build, Operate & Maintain Contract for a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System   

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners: 

1) Accept the proposal by SAAB for the Remote Virtual Ramp Control System Contract and. 

2) Authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for the amount 
contained herein. 

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

On June 26, 2023, MNAA hosted an Industry Day for vendors to discuss the upcoming RFP 
solicitation for a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System. At this meeting a review of the anticipated 
timeline, current and future airport operations, and future anticipated gates were discussed. 

On July 28, 2023, MNAA issued an RFP accepting proposals from qualified service providers for 
the design, build, operation, and maintenance of a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System. 
Proposers were asked to bid on the supervision, labor, materials, machinery, equipment, 
permits, and incidentals necessary for the satisfactory execution and completion of the services. 
There were 918 views out of a total of 1842 target recipients when the RFP was posted online. 
Direct solicitation was sent to the Airlines and seven potential vendors. Those vendors included:  
SAAB Sensis, CI Squared, Robinson Aviation, Midwest Air Traffic Control, STB Inc., and Bristol 
Consulting, LLC. 

On August 3, 2023, MNAA hosted a pre-proposal meeting where attendees consisted of 
DSI/ATCSI, Frequentis, SAAB, and Garver.  

Proposals were due on August 18, 2023. One (1) company submitted a proposal for design, build, 
and operation of the Remote Virtual Ramp Control System. The proposer was: SAAB, Inc. 

On August 24, 2023, the internal selection committee, comprised of representatives from 
Operations, Information Technology, Airline Affairs, Engineering and BDD reviewed and scored 
the proposal based on the following criteria: Program Management, Technical Approach, VRC 
Operations Approach, Past Technical Experience, Cost/Price, and SMWBE/Diversity. SAAB scored 
304 based on their written proposals. SAAB was selected and issued an intent to award on August 
24, 2023.  



Page 2 of 3 

The Selection Committee determined SAAB to be qualified based on: 

1. Program Management – SAAB clearly demonstrated their experience and qualifications 
of on-site Management and operation of a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System. 

2. Technical Approach - Knowledge of Airfield, Turn-Key System, Remote Airport graphics, 
Cloud driven, CIS Benchmarks 

3. Past Technical Experience – Specifically: 

a. Design and implementation of a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System at Kansas City 
International Airport (MCI). 

b. Design and implementation of a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System at Orlando 
International Airport (MCO). 

4. VRC Operations Approach – The SAAB team will be comprised of their partners at 
Robinson Aviation (RVA) which will provide the communications system, Ramp Control 
staff, and Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) and Garver which will be responsible for 
M/E Civil and Structural. 

B. Impact / Findings 

SMWBE Goal:        0.00% 

Anticipated Contract Start Date:    October 30, 2023 

Duration of Contract:      3 years w/ 2 renewal options 

Contract Completion Date:     October 29, 2026 

Design – Build Cost       $8,318,200 

Operating Cost Year 1 (Estimated)   $5,345,154 

Operating Cost Year 2 (Estimated)   $5,612,412 

Operating Cost Year 3 (Estimated)   $5,893,033 

Estimated Contract Cost 3 years:   $25,168,799 NTE 

Operating Cost Year 4 (Option)    $6,187,685 

Operating Cost Year 5 (Option)    $6,497,069 

Estimated Contract Cost 3 years 
with 2 Optional years:      $37,853,553 NTE 

Funding Source:        Operations & Maintenance (O&M), charged to the  
           Airlines for reimbursement. 

A negotiations meeting was held on September 1, 2023, with representatives from SAAB and 
MNAA. Pricing could change based on the outcome of the final design and build. Staffing 
escalation costs were not included in the initial bid and were estimated. 

NOTE:  MNAA will incur additional costs for design and construction of camera array structural 
support, control room white box and communications infrastructure (costs currently being 



Page 3 of 3 

estimated).  These components will be competitively solicited, procured and Board approval 
obtained as required.  These additional costs will also be charged to Airlines for reimbursement.   

The Majority in Interest (“MII”) ballot will include: 

1) Affirmation the Airlines were involved in the RFP selection process 

2) Contract to design, build, operate and maintain the Remote Virtual Control System is 
$37,853,553 NTE, and will be charged to the airlines for reimbursement 

3) Additional capital costs for design and construction of camera array structural supports, 
control room white box and communications infrastructure will be charged to the airlines 
for reimbursement 

C. Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in BNA 

• Plan for the Future 

• Prepare for the Unexpected 

D. Options / Alternatives 

1. Do nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to provide ramp control 
services to BNA aircraft and create a potential delay in flights which will ultimately reduce 
the overall customer experience. 

2. Cancel this solicitation and issue a new RFP.   

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on September 13, 2023. The Operations 
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 4 

STAFF ANALYSIS 

Board of Commissioners 

 

0BDate: September 20, 2023 

1BFacility: West Side Private or Corporate Space  

2BSubject: Scott Sohr Future SPE Letter of Intent/Lease Terms for West Side Hangar Development 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners: 

1) approve the terms negotiated between MNAA and a future Special Purpose Entity for Scott 
Sohr (the “Tenant”) via Letter of Intent (LOI). 

2) authorize MNAA Staff and the Board of Commissioners to execute a lease agreement between 
MNAA and Tenant that is consistent with the LOI terms.  

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

MNAA has received an unsolicited LOI from Scott Sohr with interest in constructing hangars on 
approximately 5.15 acres (224,275 SF) on the 5.97 acre tract of land and extending Taxilane B 
for the remainder of the tract.  This property was most recently used by MNAA as a 
maintenance yard and has not been actively marketed. MNAA has demolished existing facilities 
on the parcel.  

The tenants in this area, of which this is the last available tract, also construct and maintain 

Taxilanes A and B, as well as pay an easement fee for these taxilanes.   

B. Lease Terms 

1. Tenant will lease  approximately 5.15 acres (224,275 SF) on the 5.97 acre tract of land and 

extend Taxilane B for the remainder of the tract.  This parcel is highlighted on the attached 

exhibit.   

 

2. Tenant will have an 18 month Construction Term, 30 year initial term, and one 5 year renewal 

option for a total potential term of 36.5 years. 

 

3. Tenant will pay rent at $2.40 p/sf beginning on the effective date of the lease. Rent will 

increase each year by 3% except for in years 10 and 20 of the initial term, upon which rent 

will be increased based on an appraisal. In no event will rent increase by more than 110% of 

the immediately prior year, nor will rent decrease.  Tenant will also pay an easement fee of 



Page 2 of 4 

$0.50 beginning on the effective date of the lease for the Taxilane B extension and this tract’s 

share of Taxilanes A and B.  The easement fee will increase each year by 3%. 

 

4. Tenant will pay a monthly fuel flowage fee for all fuels dispensed and the current rate is 

$0.08 per gallon. 

 

5. During construction, the Tenant will invest a minimum of $14M for construction of a hangar 

facility, ramp/apron space and a fuel farm which will be for exclusive use of the tenant, its 

subtenants and its affiliates. The hangars will be a total of approximately 66,000 SF.   

 

6. Tenant will complete the Taxilane B extension and first hangar within 18 months of the 

effective date and the second hangar within 30 months.  

 

7. Tenant is responsible for obtaining all necessary permits to complete the project, including 

compliance with MNAA’s AIR process.                                                                                                                                                                        

 

8. The lease is a triple net lease; therefore, Tenant will be responsible for all costs associated 

with the property during the term of the lease including maintenance, insurance, and taxes. 

 

9. Tenant will be responsible for completing property condition and pavement condition 

assessments every 5 years. These assessments will be submitted to MNAA with a report from 

the Tenant setting forth any deficiencies that have been repaired in the prior 5 year period 

and a plan for the repairs needed during the following 5 year period.  

 

10. Tenant holds the right to assign the lease to an affiliate or successor organization of Tenant 

with notice to MNAA.  Any other assignment or transfer must be approved by MNAA and 

will include payment to MNAA of a percentage of the gross transaction value minus the 

unamortized amount of the total Capital Investment made by Tenant to the Premises. 

MNAA’s percentage of the proceeds is based on scale dependent upon how far along in the 

term such assignment or transfer is done.  MNAA will receive 20% of the transaction value if 

there are 10 or more years remaining on the term, 15% if there are less than 10 years 

remaining but more than 5 years, and 10% if there are less than 5 years remaining. 

 

11. Tenant is permitted to use the property for commercial operations under 14 CFR Part 91 and 

14 CFR Part 135.  This includes managing, maintaining, fueling, and otherwise supporting the 

aeronautical activities of individuals or entities who have an ownership interest in aircraft 

stored on the leasehold who are under a written contract with Tenant to provide such 

services.  

C. Impact/Findings 

This lease will provide MNAA with an immediate revenue source of $579,590, including both the 
rent and easement fee, in year one and a new asset that will vest in 31.5-36.5 years.  

  



Page 3 of 4 

D. Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in BNA 

• Plan for the future 

E. Options/Alternatives 

The Finance Committee could decline to recommend approval of the proposed Tenant and Real 
Estate could release a Notice of Availability (“NOA”).  

 

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on September 13, 2023. The Finance 
Committee voted 4 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



Page 4 of 4 

EXHIBIT 
 
 

 
 
 



                           

Total 
Certified 

firms:

New Certified firms:   
7/1/2024 - YTD Totals Firms Certified in 

August FY'24 Totals 
New Applications 

Received:           
7/1/2024 -YTD   

Totals
New Interstate 

Apps Received: 
7/1/2024 -YTD   

Totals 
Renewals 
Received: 

7/1/2024 -YTD                 
Totals

Denials, Delist & 
Withdrawals 

7/1/2024 -YTD                
Totals 

Monthly 
OnSite's 

Completed 
7/1/2024 -YTD     

136 Firms Construction: 9 Construction: 5 Construction: 9 Construction: 2 Construction: 29 Construction: 4 7

201 Firms Professional Svcs: 5
Professional 
Svcs: 0

Professional 
Svcs: 8

Professional 
Svcs: 3

Professional 
Svcs: 33

Professional 
Svcs: 2 5

professional 4 professional 0 professional 6 professional 3 professional 24 professional 2 4
security 0 security 0 security 0 security 0 security 2 security 0 0
janitorial 1 janitorial 0 janitorial 2 janitorial 0 janitorial 5 janitorial 0 1
landscaping 0 landscaping 0 landscaping 0 landscaping 0 landscaping 2 landscaping 0 0

145 Firms Goods/Svcs: 2 Goods/Svcs: 1 Goods/Svcs: 6 Goods/Svcs: 5 Goods/Svcs: 8 Goods/Svcs: 2 0
printing/signage 0 printing/signage 0 printing/signage 0 printing/signage 0 printing/signage 0 printing/signage 0 0  
supplier 1 0 supplier 0 supplier 1 supplier 1 supplier 1 0
miscellaneous 0 miscellaneous 0 miscellaneous 0 miscellaneous 0 miscellaneous 0 miscellaneous 0 0
concessions 1 concessions 1 concessions 6 concessions 4 concessions 7 concessions 1 0

482 Total 16 Total 6 Total 23 Total 10 Total 70 Total 8 Total 12 Total

 1

 Certification Inquiries  (phone, email, meet & greets)  

Monthly Inquires: 33

Total Inquires YTD: 48 202 Report Date:  8/8/2024

Business Diversity Development, September FY'2024 Certification Report as of August FY'2024



FY '2024 Date of Event BDD Outreach Engagement Events 

AMAC Booth and Outreach Event -         SAN 
ANTONIO, TX June 12-June 13th 

The BDD Team attended the AMAC training event in 
San Antonio, hosted a booth encouraging the 
benefits of certification for upcoming BNA projects 
and solicitations in Nashville.

Metro Business Development Partners 
Luncheon-2023 Nashville Disparity Study 7/17/2023

The BDD Team (Davita Taylor, Kebbyn Connell & 
Floyd Munn) attended the Metro Business BAO 
Department and Staff to review and discuss the 
2023 Metro Nashville Disparity Study Results.  

Hensel Phelps - Project 2311 - CGMP4 
Outreach Event 7/18/2023

The BDD Team (Kevin Crampton & Floyd Munn) 
attended and supported The Outreach Efforts with 
local vendors  

ACCA 2023 National Training Institute: August 
13-19, 2023 - Memphis, Tennessee

  8/14/2023 - 
8/18/2023

The BDD Team (Kebbyn Connell ELI certification, 
Kevin Crampton MCA certification & Azad Saeed 
CCA certification) attended with The American 
Contract Compliance Association.  ACCA is the 
nation’s preeminent compliance and certification 

2023 TDOT  DBE Small Business Annual 
Meeting  8/28/2023

The BDD Team (Kebbyn Connell)  This event is part 
of our continuing effort to provide DBEs a venue to 
learn about transportation-related contract 
opportunities here at TDOT and with other state of 
Tennessee Departments. The theme of this year’s 
meeting is "Growing Your Business the Public 
Infrastructure Market.” organization.

BDD Educational Outreach, Technical Assistance, and Program Development Activities 



August 11, 2023 

Board of Commissioners 
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority 
140 BNA Park Drive, Suite 520 
Nashville, TN 37214 

Dear Board of Commissioners: 

We are in the process of planning for the audit of the financial statements of the Metropolitan Nashville 
Airport Authority (“the Authority”) for the year ended June 30, 2023. An important aspect of planning for the 
audit is communication with those who have responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the the 
Authority and obligations related to the accountability of the the Authority. At the Authority, these 
responsibilities and obligations are held by the Board of Commissioners, collectively and individually; 
therefore, it is important for us to communicate with each of you in your role as a member of the Board of 
Commissioners.  

As part of this communication process, we have spoken at length with James Granbery, Chair of the Board 
of Commissioners, regarding our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and the 
planned scope and timing of our audit. The purpose of this letter is to provide each of you with a summary 
of those discussions and to provide you with the opportunity to communicate with us on matters that may 
impact our audit.  

Our Responsibility Under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards and Generally Accepted 
Government Auditing Standards  

As stated in our engagement letter addressed to Mr. Douglas E. Kreulen, and dated March 24, 2023, our 
responsibility, as described by professional standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial 
statements prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does 
not relieve you or management of your responsibilities. 

In accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAO Standards), we are required 
to communicate all noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, or grants that have a 
material effect on the financial statements that comes to our attention. GAO Standards also require that we 
report any instances of abuse identified during that audit that could be quantitatively or qualitatively material 
to the financial statements. 

Depending on the impact to the Authority’s financial statements, we may include an emphasis-of matter 
paragraph in the auditor’s report informing the users of the financial statements about the implementation 
of GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements. The proposed wording of the emphasis-of-matter paragraph follows: 

As explained in Note X to the financial statements, the Authority implemented the provisions of 
GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements, as of and for the year-ended June 30, 2023. This statement establishes accounting 
and financial reporting requirements for Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships, including 
those that meet the definition of a Service Concession Arrangement, and Availability Payment 
Arrangement for governments. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 



Board of Commissioners August 11, 2023 
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority 

Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

Ali H. Hijazi is the engagement partner responsible for supervising our services performed as part of this 
engagement. Our audit fieldwork will include three phases. The planning and preliminary information-
gathering phase occurs in June and July; the risk assessment phase in July, and the rest of our audit 
procedures will be performed during August and September.  

To plan an effective audit, we must identify significant risks of misstatement in the financial statements, 
including those related to changes in the financial reporting framework or changes in the Authority’s 
environment, financial condition, or activities, and design procedures to address those risks.  

Because management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud due to its ability to manipulate accounting 
records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be 
operating effectively, generally accepted auditing standards require that we always consider this to be a 
significant risk. In addition, we identified the following significant risk of misstatement: 

• Proper measurement and recognition of revenue for amounts received under new grants such as
the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act (“CRRSA”), American
Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”), and Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (“BIL”)

In response to these identified significant risks, we will perform the following: 

• Testing of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in the
preparation of the financial statements.

• Review submitted reimbursement requests for CRRSA, ARPA, and BIL funding and reconcile to
cash received, accounts receivable recorded, and revenue recognized to ensure conformity to
generally accepted accounting principle.

We will gain an understanding of accounting processes and key internal controls through a review of the 
accounting procedures questionnaires and control procedures questionnaires prepared by management. 
We will confirm through observation and inspection procedures that accounting procedures and controls 
included in the questionnaires have been implemented.  

We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting; however, we 
will communicate to you significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified in connection with our 
audit. 

The concept of materiality is inherent in our work. We place greater emphasis on those items that have, on 
a relative basis, more importance to the financial statements and greater possibilities of material error than 
with those items of lesser importance or those in which the possibility of material error is remote.  

Information from You Relevant to Our Audit 

An important aspect of this communication process is the opportunity for us to obtain from you information 
that is relevant to our audit. Your views about any of the following are relevant to our audit: 

• The Authority’s objectives and strategies and the related business risks that may result in material
misstatements

• Matters that you consider warrant particular attention during the audit and any areas where you
want to request additional procedures be undertaken.

• Significant communications with regulators

• Understanding of the Authority’s relationships and transactions with related parties that are
significant to the Authority and any concerns regarding those relationships or transactions



Board of Commissioners August 11, 2023 
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority 

• The attitudes, awareness, and actions concerning:

o The Authority’s internal control and its importance to the Authority, including how the Board
of Commissioners oversees the effectiveness of internal control and the detection or
possibility of fraud

o The detection or possibility of fraud, including whether the Board of Commissioners has
knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud affecting the Authority

o Any significant unusual transactions the Authority has entered into

• The actions of the Board of Commissioners in response to developments in accounting standards,
regulations, laws, previous communications from us, and other related matters and the effect of
such developments on, for example, the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial
statements, including the following:

o The relevance, reliability, comparability, and understandability of the information presented
in the financial statements

o Whether all required information has been included in the financial statements and whether
such information has been appropriately classified, aggregated or disaggregated, and
presented

• Other information included in the annual comprehensive financial report comprises the introductory
section, statistical section and continuing disclosures. In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material
inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements or the other
information otherwise appears to be misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that
an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe
it in our report.

Management expects that final versions of other information will be provided to us prior to the date of the 
auditor’s report. 

If you have any information to communicate to us regarding the above or any other matters you believe are 
relevant to the audit, or if you would like to discuss the audit in more detail, please call us at (586) 416-4975 
(Ali) or (810) 766-6022 (Pam) as soon as possible. 

Thank you for your time and consideration in this important aspect of the audit process. You can expect to 
hear from us again after the completion of our audit when we will report to you the significant findings from 
the audit. 

Very truly yours, 

Plante & Moran, PLLC 

Ali H. Hijazi, CPA 
Partner 

Pamela L. Hill, CPA 
Partner 


	Agenda - MNAA Board Meeting - September 20, 2023
	Minutes - MNAA and MPC Board Meeting - August 16, 2023
	Staff Analysis - Design, Build, Operate & Maintain Contract for a Remote Virtual Ramp Control System
	Staff Analysis - Scott Sohr Future SPE Letter of Intent/Lease Terms for West Side Hangar Development
	BDD Certification Report - August FY24
	Plante Moran Audit Letter (Sope & Timing)



